
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

MARY ANN SATTERTHWAITE : 

1528 Gallatin Place, N.E.    : 

Washington, DC 20017   : 

      : 

  Plaintiff,                                  : Case No.  09-cv-02374-ESH 

v.      : 

: Jury Demand 

: 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  : 

GOVERNMENT : 

1350 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW  : 

Washington, D.C. 20004  : 

 : 

Defendant.   : 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 

1. COMES NOW the Plaintiff,  by and through counsel, The Law Office of Jimmy A. Bell, 

P.C. and Jimmy A. Bell, Esq., and respectfully presents this Amended Complaint against 

the Defendant, the District of Columbia Government, to enforce her rights under the 

Federal Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, 42 U.S.C. § 2000 (e), Title VII of the 

1964 Civil rights Act and the District of Columba Human Rights Act.  

JURISDICTION 

2. Jurisdiction of this court is based upon Section 1981 of the Federal Civil Rights Act of 

1866 and Title VII of the 1964 Civil rights Act and the District of Columba Human 

Rights Act.  

VENUE 

 

3. Venue is proper in the District of Columbia as the acts complained of occurred within 

said jurisdiction.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Case 1:09-cv-02374-RLW   Document 7    Filed 01/20/10   Page 1 of 10



 2 

4. Plaintiff is an African-American female employed with the District of Columbia 

Government (hereinafter “D.C. Courts”) as a Chief Capital Projects Manager.  Defendant 

is the District of Columbia Courts. 

5. Plaintiff has a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering. 

6. Plaintiff has over twenty years of capital project and facility management experience. 

7. Plaintiff has over eight years of developing and monitoring capital projects worth $1 

million to $100 million. 

8. Plaintiff has been employed with D.C. Courts since 1989. 

9. Year after year, Plaintiff has received outstanding performance evaluations from her 

supervisor, Mr. Joseph E. Sanchez, Jr. 

10. In 2002, following a desk audit by the D.C. Courts’ Human Resources Division 

(Hereinafter “HRD”), Plaintiff was promoted to Chief Capital Projects Manager at a Pay 

Grade 14.  Soon thereafter, Plaintiff’s colleague Zsolt Szalay, a white male, was 

promoted to the position of D.C. Courts’ Building Operations Manager, from a Grade 14 

to a Grade 15, and became Plaintiff’s supervisor.   

11. In late 2007, Mr. Szalay retired from the D.C. Courts.   

12. Following Mr. Szalay’s retirement, Plaintiff performed all of the duties of the Building 

Operations Manager, the position vacated by Ms. Szalay. 

13. On February 20, 2008, Mr. Sanchez, the Director of the D.C. Courts’ Capital Projects and 

Facilities Management Division (Hereinafter “CPFMD”), initiated and signed off on the 

D.C. Courts’ Request for Personnel Action (Form 52) to recruit to fill the position 

vacated by Mr. Szalay at a Grade 15.   
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14. Gloria Trotman, the Acting HRD Director signed off on the Form 52 recruitment request 

on February 21, 2008.  On February 26, 2008, Bilal Syed, on behalf of the D.C. Courts’ 

Chief Financial Officer, signed off on the Form 52 recruitment request verifying that 

financially the recruitment could move forward.  On February 28, 2008, Anne B. Wicks, 

the D.C. Courts’ Executive Officer, signed off on the Form 52 recruitment request 

thereby authorizing the Building Operations Manager position to be advertised at a Grade 

15.   

15. The D.C. Courts’ business practice related to the recruitment of positions involves the 

following: 

a. Personnel Actions via an approved Form 52 are processed through the D.C. 

Courts’ HRD with a Position Description that has been evaluated and classified 

within the HRD; 

b. Vacancy Announcements are developed in concert with the Position Description 

and the division that requested the recruitment;  

c. Vacancy Announcements are advertised to foster competition for the recruitment 

of the most qualified person for the vacancy;  

d. The recruiting division conducts its selection process and forwards its candidate 

to be hired and/or promoted to HRD; and 

e. The HRD processes the paperwork for the candidate to be hired and/or promoted 

for the position advertised in the applicable Vacancy Announcement. 

16. Additionally, the D.C. Courts’ Joint Committee on Judicial Administration Personnel 

Policies provide the following guidance: 

Policy No. 700 stipulates in part: 
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700 Policy. The Executive Officer is responsible for assuring that a 

position classification plan is prepared and maintained for nonjudicial 

positions by occupational groups, series, class, and grade according to 

similarities and differences in duties, responsibilities and qualification 

requirements…The position classification plan will be used by the 

Executive Officer to establish grades and rates of pay for all nonjudicial 

employees in an equitable manner by the application of recognized 

classification principles. The objective of the plan is to attain equal pay 

for substantially equal work based upon complexity of assignment, 

assigned duties, responsibilities, and the qualification requirements of 

positions. 

701 Management Role. The Executive Officer and each of the Chief 

Judges are responsible for ensuring that positions established are 

necessary for the operations of the Courts, from the most efficient and 

most economical organizational structure for accomplishing assigned 

functions, and are so organized that maximum utilization is made of the 

highest skills of each employee. 

 

17. In March 2008, after the Form 52 for the Building Operations Manager recruitment was  

approved, Ms. Trotman spoke to Plaintiff about several CPFMD personnel actions and  

informed Plaintiff that the Position Description for the Building Operations Manager in  

place was classified and sufficient to support the recruitment request.  This was the  

Position Description that had been classified by Ms. Trotman to support Mr. Szalay’s 

promotion to the Grade 15 Building Operations Manager.  In an effort to ensure that the 

Building Operations Manager position would capture the skills required at a Grade 15, 

the HRD worked with CPFMD to develop a Vacancy Announcement that accurately 

reflected the duties and responsibilities of the position. This enhancement documented 

that the Grade 15 Building Operations Manager position of 2008 was substantially more 

inclusive than the Grade 15 Building Operations Manager position of 2002.  The Grade 

15 Building Operations Manager recruitment was advertised on August 25, 2008.  This 

entire process was managed by Ms. Trotman. 

18. In December 2008, following Plaintiff’s interview for the Building Operations Manager 

position, Mr. Sanchez selected Plaintiff as his candidate to fill the vacancy.   
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19. Mr. Sanchez sent his selection to his supervisor Dr. Cheryl Bailey, Deputy Executive 

Officer, by December 5, 2008.  Ms. Bailey questioned the position description.  

Subsequently, the Position Description that Ms. Trotman said was acceptable for the 

August recruitment needed modification in January 2009.  CPFMD modified the Position 

Description to more closely capture the additional duties and responsibilities reflected in 

the Vacancy Announcement advertised in August 2008, and forwarded it to Dr. Bailey 

and Ms. Trotman. 

20. On March 23, 2009, Mr. Sanchez shared a March 13, 2009 email that he received from 

Ms. Trotman.  Three months after Mr. Sanchez sent to HRD his selection of Plaintiff as 

the Grade 15 Building Operations Manager, collaboration between the HRD and the 

Executive Officer’s office resulted in the position being downgraded to a Grade 14. 

21. This downgrade was effected after the Plaintiff’s race and gender became known to the 

Executive Office and within a year’s time of the HRD and Executive Officer approving 

the recruitment action using a Grade 15 Building Operations Manager Position 

Description for a white male. 

22. The Building Operations Manager position was reclassified at the Grade 14 level without 

conducting an objective position classification in compliance with the D.C. Courts’ 

policies and procedures or the Office of Personnel Management’s guidelines. 

23. Plaintiff is being denied pay equal to the compensation received by the white male who 

previously occupied the position of Building Operations Manager although this position 

is still approved for funding at the Grade 15 level. 
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24. The job content of the Grade 15 Building Operations Manager position at the D.C. Courts 

after December 2008 is enhanced when compared to the Grade 15 Building Operations 

Manager position prior to 2008.   

25. Defendant District of Columbia is sued in its representative capacity for the D.C. Courts. 

26. Although Plaintiff was selected for the enhanced position of Building Operations 

Manager, on account of her race and sex, Plaintiff is being denied equal pay as this 

position was downgraded to a Grade 14 although a white male had previously held the 

same position at a Grade 15.  Plaintiff was issued a Right to Sue Letter on December 9, 

2009. 

 

COUNT I 

 

UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF  

THE FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

27. Plaintiff re-pleads and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 26, with the same force and effect 

as if set forth separately at length herein. 

28. The Federal Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 specifically protects the right of 

individuals to make and enforce contracts.  

29. The Supreme Court recently stated in Domino's Pizza, Inc. v. McDonald, 546 U.S. 470 at 

 

475 (2006), that: 

 
Among the many statutes that combat racial discrimination,         

§ 1981, originally § 1 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 14 Stat. 27, 

has a specific function: It protects the equal right of "all persons 

within the jurisdiction of the United States" to "make and enforce 

contracts" without respect to race. The statute currently defines 

"make and enforce contracts" to "include the making, performance, 

modification, and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of 

all benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual 

relationship." § 1981(b). 
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30. Plaintiff’s right to make and enforce a contract with the D.C. Courts has been infringed. 

31. Plaintiff is a member of a protected class (African-American). 

32. Plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action as she was denied pay equal to the 

compensation received by the white male who previously held the position of Building 

Operations Manager.   

33. Upon Plaintiff’s selection to the position of Building Operations Manager, the position 

was downgraded to a Grade 14 although a white male had previously held the same 

position at a Grade 15.   

34. The facts and circumstances surrounding the denial of equal pay to Plaintiff in the 

position of Building Operations Manager rationally support an inference of unlawful 

discrimination based on her race (African-American).  Plaintiff was equally qualified for 

the position of Building Operations Manager as the white male who previously occupied 

the position at a Grade 15 level but was offered the position at a Grade 14 level after her 

race became known.  

35. Despite Plaintiff’s work credentials and duties, Plaintiff was denied the right to equal pay 

on account of her race (Black). Defendant acted in a discriminatory manner that a 

reasonable person would find objectively unreasonable. 

36. Plaintiff claims compensatory damages in the amount of $1,000,000.00 under this statute. 

 

COUNT II  

 

UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF  

THE TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964  

(Discrimination Based on Race (black)and Sex (female) 
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37. Plaintiff re-pleads and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 36, with the same force and effect 

as if set forth separately at length herein. 

38. Plaintiff is a member of a protected class (African-American and Female). 

39. Plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action as she was denied pay equal to the 

compensation received by the white male who previously held the position of Building 

Operations Manager.   

40. Upon Plaintiff’s selection to the position of Building Operations Manager, the position 

was downgraded to a Grade 14 although a white male had previously held the same 

position at a Grade 15.   

41. Despite Plaintiff’s work credentials and duties, Plaintiff did not enjoy the services, 

privileges and benefits offered to persons outside of her protected class base on her race 

(African-American) and sex (female). Defendant acted in a discriminatory manner that a 

reasonable person would find objectively unreasonable. 

42. Plaintiff claims compensatory damages in the amount of $300,000.00 under this statute. 

COUNT III  

 

UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF  

THE DC HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  

(Discrimination Based on Race (black)and Sex (female) 

43. Plaintiff re-pleads and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 42, with the same force and effect 

as if set forth separately at length herein. 

44. Plaintiff is a member of a protected class (African-American and Female). 

45. Plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action as she was denied pay equal to the 

compensation received by the white male who previously held the position of Building 

Operations Manager.   
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46. Upon Plaintiff’s selection to the position of Building Operations Manager, the position 

was downgraded to a Grade 14 although a white male had previously held the same 

position at a Grade 15.   

47. Despite Plaintiff’s work credentials and duties, Plaintiff did not enjoy the services, 

privileges and benefits offered to persons outside of her protected class base on her race 

(African-American) and sex (female). Defendant acted in a discriminatory manner that a 

reasonable person would find objectively unreasonable. 

48. Plaintiff claims compensatory damages in the amount of $1,000,000.00 under this statute. 

 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

 

49. Plaintiff re-pleads and re-alleges counts 1 through 48, with the same force and effect as if 

set forth separately at length herein. 

50. Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

51. Compensatory damages in the amount of $2,300,000.00.   

52. Pre and post-judgment interest. 

53. Lost income and back pay. 

54. The costs of litigation, including reasonable attorney’s fees and expert witness fees. 

55. Such other relief as may be just. 

 

JURY DEMAND 

 

56. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

___________/s/________________ 

Jimmy A. Bell, Esq. 

The Law Office of Jimmy A. Bell, P.C. 

   P.O. Box 1775  

 Bowie, MD 20717 

 (301) 390-5850  

(301) 390-5851 (Fax) 

Bar No. MD 14639 
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